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In Hollywood you’re never quite as dead as people give you credit for…

Charlie Berns

Great boldness is never without some absurdity.

Francis Bacon







One

Sharing




Three years, nine months and twenty-four days after winning an Academy Award for producing the best picture of the year, Charlie Berns was sitting on a folding chair in a second-floor room at the Brentwood Unitarian Church Annex listening to a woman with smeared lipstick and a bad postnasal drip tell him, and the other thirteen people in the room, that she had just charged $1,496 worth of cashmere sweaters on a VISA card she had received in the mail and failed to destroy.

“I was just a week short of eighteen months debt-free…”

The woman, who looked as if she had slept in her car with the heater on, collapsed back into a heap and began to pull compulsively on her hair.

“Thank you for sharing, Sheila,” the group leader Phyllis said. “Anyone else want to share?”

She looked straight at Charlie as she said this. Charlie looked right back at her. There was no way he was going to get up there and tell this group of deadbeats that after making $2.65 million in back-end profits for producing the picture, he had let it all ride on the NASDAQ in February of 2000. That his broker at the time, Teddy Herbentin, kept calling it a market correction until the 2.65 mil dissolved into low five figures and Charlie had cashed out to pay his back property taxes. That the next picture he developed collapsed under the collective weight of four different writers, a million-plus in before the studio pulled the plug. That the book he optioned with what remained of the back-end money, an exposé on sweatshops in Honduras, turned out to be a complete fabrication by the author, who had gotten all his information off some unreliable Web sites and was being sued by the Hondurans, as well as by the publisher. That the woman he had been living with, Deidre Hearn—a thirty-eight-year-old development executive who had been sent to shut down his Oscar-winning picture and instead wound up working on it with him—had been killed by a faulty electric transformer on his automatic sprinkler system, electrocuted on the Fourth of July last year when she had tried to repair a broken sprinkler head and her wet hand had made contact with the exposed terminal of the transformer that his gardener had been promising to fix for months.

Nor was he going to share the fact that he was living in his nephew Lionel’s pool house, driving Lionel’s personal assistant’s sister’s car while she was recovering from periodontal surgery—a 1989 Honda Civic with one functioning headlight—


communicating on a cell phone that he had gotten on promotion with a kited credit card and was there in this Debtors Anonymous meeting only because his debt consolidator had insisted he attend as a condition of his protecting Charlie from the dogpack of creditors that descended on his mailbox daily.

This was the third meeting he had been to, and he had yet to open his mouth, except to wolf down bagels during the after-meeting social period. He hadn’t gotten past the first of the twelve steps: We admitted that we were powerless over debt—that our lives had become unmanageable.

As far as Charlie was concerned, his problems had nothing to do with being powerless over debt: it was the debt that was making him powerless, a semantic distinction that did not seem to fall under any of the twelve steps displayed prominently on the church annex room wall. If it hadn’t been for that three-year-and-counting market correction; if he had gotten a decent script of two to produce; if he hadn’t become severely depressed after Deidre died trying to save his lawn; plus a few dozen other ifs, he would still be living in his 4,900 square feet in the Beverly Hills flats, driving the SEL560 and employing a small army of people to deal with his life for him.

He had gone to his debt consolidator, Xuang Duc, a Vietnamese with a green card and no-frills English, only because his creditors had started to call him at all hours at Lionel’s, his last known phone number, and Lionel told him to please do something about it asap because he, Lionel, did not want to have to change his phone number.

And it was Xuang Duc who had suggested that he see a mental health professional and had furnished him with a list of people who would treat people temporarily unable to pay. When he started having suicidal thoughts, Charlie took out the list and scanned it, looking for someone convenient to Brentwood. He avoided driving to places in more remote areas of the city because he was using an expired Union 76 gas card, whose existence he had not disclosed to Xuang Duc, as he was supposed to, and which would certainly be shut down soon.

This was not the first time that Charlie Berns had considered pulling the plug. A year and a half before winning the Best Picture Oscar, he had actually hooked up a hose to the exhaust pipe of his about-to-be-repossessed Mercedes and fed it through the doggie door of his Beverly Hills house, after having taped up all the windows meticulously with gaffer’s tape. It was only the fortuitous arrival of his nephew Lionel, just off the Greyhound from New Jersey, that had kept Charlie from drifting into oblivion on the fumes of his fuel-injected engine.

And it was Lionel’s script based on the life of the nineteenth-century British prime minister Benjamin Disraeli that Charlie had optioned, had a drunken hack named Madison Kearney rewrite into a Middle Eastern action movie called Lev Disraeli: Freedom Fighter, got the studio to invest fifty million dollars in against domestic box office after he managed to get a black action star with a fleeting interest in Zionism to commit to the picture, which started shooting in Belgrade, cheating Tel Aviv, until the action star got kidnapped by Macedonian separatists and Charlie had to shoot the original Disraeli script on a hidden location in Yugoslavia, cheating 1870s London, without the studio’s knowing where they were until it was too late and they realized they had a best-picture candidate in the beautifully produced, talky melodrama that eventually won the big one while Charlie sat in the Shrine Auditorium catatonic in his rented tuxedo barely able to make it to the stage to accept his award in front of a planetwide TV audience.

All that was water under the bridge. Though you would have thought, as Charlie often did, that the Oscar would have at least allowed him to skate for a couple of years, enjoying fat studio housekeeping deals while developing his next picture. But he hadn’t counted on the new lean and mean bottom-line studio management philosophy brought on by vertical integration and balance sheet accountability, his girlfriend getting shocked to death on his front lawn, the NASDAQ’s going south, or the general law of diminishing returns as he passed birthdays that progressively defined him as an endangered species in the youth-sucking ecology of the film business.

So there he was, on the second floor of the Brentwood Unitarian Church Annex, staring down the group leader, a reedy women named Phyllis who was five years into recovery after having maxed out every charge card she could get her hands on. There were only twenty minutes left before coffee and bagels, and he wasn’t going to crack now.

A woman wearing aviator glasses with a Band-Aid holding them together, a Milwaukee Brewers windbreaker and sweatpants, raised her hand.

“Thank you, Wilma,” Phyllis said, all the time keeping her eyes on Charlie.

“Well,” said Wilma, “I finally told Carl to move out. I had six years invested in that relationship and like I said last meeting it was suffocating me I could barely breathe you have no idea…”

When the collection basket came around, Charlie contributed two dollars—a dollar less than Phyllis suggested but, given the fact that he had seven dollars in his pocket, a generous contribution nonetheless in that it amounted to a significant percentage of his net worth—and then stiffed it when they sent the basket back around a second time to make up what they claimed they needed to cover the coffee and the bagels.

When sharing was over, Phyllis asked people to raise their hands if they were willing to be called before the next meeting, and everyone but Charlie and a guy sitting across the room from him dutifully raised their hands. He was a short, wiry guy, maybe late forties, with bleached teeth, wearing a nicely cut sport jacket, pressed slacks, Italian shoes and tinted glasses.

During coffee and bagel time this man approached Charlie and introduced himself. “Kermit Fenster,” he said, violating the rule about using last names.

“How’re you doing,” Charlie responded.

“You’re in the entertainment business, aren’t you?”

Charlie flinched.

“How do I know that? I know that because I am blessed with a photographic memory for faces. I can remember someone I met at a cocktail party sixteen years ago.”

“Have we met?”

“I saw you on TV. At the Academy Awards, I’m saying three, maybe four years ago. Course, you were wearing a tux at the time and had a couple of less miles on the odometer.”

He took out a tin of Altoids, offered Charlie one.

“No thanks.”

“I could use a twelve-step to get off this shit. Listen, I’d like to talk to you about something.”

“I’m really not in the business anymore.”

“Just want to pick your brain.”

“Maybe next time. I’ve got to take off now,” Charlie said, looking pointedly at the door.

Kermit Fenster took out a thick wallet and handed him a business card.

“Give me a ring when you got a moment. We’ll grab a cup of coffee.”

“Sure thing,” said Charlie, heading for the door.

As he walked down the hall, he passed the AA meeting room next door. Through the glass he could see someone sharing. From the man’s expression of excruciatingly contrite sincerity, Charlie put him between Step Four (We made a searching and fearless moral investigation of ourselves) and Step Five (We admitted to God, as we understand Him, to ourselves, and to another human being the exact nature of our wrongs).
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For ten minutes Charlie sat in the Honda at an expired parking meter, keeping an eye in the rearview for the traffic gestapo vehicle while he tried to remember which ATM he could hit. The complex kiting system he had devised for his remaining credit cards involved intricate timing. One false move and it could all come tumbling down on him. He could drive back to Lionel’s and review the monthly statements, but Lionel lived way up in Mandeville Canyon, ten miles up and back, and the gas gauge was to the left of E.

He riffled through his small stack of charge cards, trying to intuit which one had a little breathing room on it. Closing his eyes, he strained to visualize the name of the company to whom he wrote the check on the overdrawn City National checking account which he mailed off at the beginning of the month, the third, maybe, which would mean they got the check for the minimum amount due on the fourth or the fifth, which would mean that he was good to the end of the billing cycle, which was the seventeenth, which was two weeks ago, nine days before the due date which would be yesterday, which…. His mind skidded off the rails. These computations were getting more and more complex, especially when you had four different cards working and three bank accounts.

Not only was this system perilous, it was, as Xuang Duc had pointed out, ultimately self-defeating. Kiting credit cards was like walking from one melting ice floe to another. He was paying 19.90 percent interest on the ATM advances and merely sinking deeper and deeper into the abyss. “You making banks very rich,” Xuang Duc had explained. “Where else they going to get 20 percent on their money?”

Charlie tried the MasterCard in an ATM on San Vicente, inserting it like he was putting a dollar in a slot machine, and when that didn’t pay off, he tried the VISA and hit it for $80. As it turned out, he needed the eighty because the Union 76 pump spit out his gas card, and he had to give them cash in advance before they turned the spigot back on. He filled the tank only one quarter full. It was indicative of his frame of mind these days that he thought a full tank of gas was an improvident investment in his future.

Charlie did a Taco Bell drive-through for their 99-cent special. As he sat eating his lunch, he considered whether he should blow off Judith, his pro bono therapist, with whom he had a three o’clock appointment. But if he did, he would have to account to Xuang Duc, to whom Judith would report his absence. If he blew off both Judith and Xuang Duc, then he’d have to account only to VISA and MasterCard.

Judith Dinkman lived in a $1.4 million bungalow south of Olympic in Baja Beverly Hills. Her office was a converted garage apartment, furnished in brightly painted IKEA colors with travel posters on the walls. His therapist greeted him at the door with her usual motherly look, her tortoiseshell glasses hanging over her ample bosom on a gold chain. They sat opposite each other, on matching director’s chairs.

“So,” she said, “what’s happening?”

“Not a whole lot.”

“Why is that?”

“There’s not much going on in my life. I go to DA meetings, then I meet with my debt consolidator, then I meet with you. What kind of life is that?”

“Isn’t that the question?”

“If I had a life, I could talk about it. But I don’t have a life.”

“That’s what we need to talk about. Why don’t you have a life?”

“I can’t get a job.”

“And why can’t you get a job?”

“I can’t get a job because I spend all my time going to meetings to discuss why I can’t get a job.”

They went around in circles like this all the time. The same questions, the same answers. He might as well phone it in.

“All right,” she said, “don’t come back. I mean, there’s no point in doing this unless you’re willing to work at it, is there?”

“Okay, you win.”

“I don’t win anything. This isn’t about me.”

“You’re right. I’m sorry. It’s just that I don’t like doing this.”

“You’re not supposed to like it. If you like it, you’re not doing it right.”

He nodded, took a deep breath. It was time to share.

“So, I went to another meeting this morning. I listened to a lot of fucked-up people talking about themselves. It made me feel pretty together actually. And then afterwards this guy came up to me, said he recognized me from seeing me get the Oscar on TV. Which was very strange because that was almost four years ago and no one else in this town seems to remember it.”

“What did he say?”

“He said he wanted to talk to me about something.”

“What did you do?”

“Took his card.”

“Are you going to talk to him?”

“I don’t know. I mean, he doesn’t look like Michael J. Anthony.”

“Who?”

“Michael J. Anthony. He was the guy who gave away the money on The Millionaire. He worked for John Beresford Tipton, and he would go up to this stranger that they had preselected and tell that person that his name was Michael J. Anthony and that he was going to give him a million dollars—was this before your time?”

“Yes.”

“Because if I had a million dollars I wouldn’t be having this problem.”

“Charlie, it’s not about the money. We’re past that.”

Every week in DA they said it was not about the money. Xuang Duc had said that to him, as well, at their first meeting in the debt consolidator’s small office in Glendale. Charlie had sat across the desk as the Vietnamese with the pocket protector and the wrinkle-free slacks explained to him, in his erratic, machine-gun English, that debt was only conquerable by behavior modification.

He had asked Charlie to bring all his bills, credit cards and bank statements to their first meeting. Charlie had held four of his sixteen cards out, plus three of his seven bank accounts. Xuang Duc played the calculator like a concert pianist, totaling up Charlie’s outstanding debts, calculating the interest, then entering it all into a program on his computer that calculated the one monthly charge he would have to pay the company that Xuang Duc worked for in lieu of all the other debts. He printed it out and handed it to Charlie. It was an unsettling number.

“It look big only because it’s total of all your obligations. But you add them up, you paying a lot more. Look at that number. Column six.”

Charlie looked at that number.

“You saving 16.8 percent on the face, 9.3 percent after you pay us. Plus you don’t have people calling you all hours, and you get credit rating clean.”

Charlie wrote a check for the initial consultation and signed a number of forms he didn’t bother reading, which enabled Xuang Duc’s company to make monthly automatic withdrawals from Charlie’s bank account.

The withdrawals came on the tenth of the month, another variable he would have to keep in consideration for his complex juggling of funds. He’d ATM on the ninth and make a cash deposit at the bank to cover the automatic withdrawal—

“Charlie, did you hear me?”

Judith’s voice pulled his attention back to Baja Beverly Hills.

“What was that?”

“I said that we both know that this is not just about money. So are we going to talk about what it’s about, or just keep going around in circles?”

“How come you’re doing this for nothing?”

“We’re not here to talk about me.”

“Well, yeah, but I think it’s strange that you’re not getting paid.”

“All right. That’s it. We’re finished.”

She rose from her seat like a large wave, filling the space with her shapeless navy blue dress. “Get out.”

“You’re throwing me out?’

“You bet.”

Charlie looked up at her hovering over him, her eyes moist with anger.

“You don’t want me to come on Thursday?”

“Nope.”

“Next Tuesday?”

“No.”

“So this is what—tough love?”

“There’s no love at all in this. Adios, Charlie.”
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Charlie drove west on Sunset, through the Beverly Hills flats, feeling a little shaky. He had just been fired by his therapist. Frankly, he didn’t blame her. He was a pain in the ass, a charity-case pain in the ass, no less.

Well, there went Tuesday and Thursday afternoons. He’d think of something else to do with the time. He could always join another twelve-step. There were meetings every day of the week. There was a Gamblers Anonymous that met Tuesdays and Thursdays in Santa Monica. He’d been in the movie business. He could relate to that.

On a whim, he turned right onto Alpine and pulled up in front of his old house. The bank had foreclosed for a song. Since Charlie had about a dollar fifty worth of equity left in the house, having refied it till it bled, he let it go without a struggle.

The house had been remodeled by the new owner. What had once been a nominally Mediterranean house, stucco and Spanish tile roof, had been transformed into a dark blue French chateau, with faux Norman shutters, crenellated roof and a marble statue of a Charles de Gaulle in full dress uniform with a képi on his head on the front lawn.

Charlie’s throat caught as he looked at the front lawn, planted with some sort of completely un-Normanlike succulents. They had ripped up his lawn—the lawn that Deidre had given her life to try to save.

Deidre. He could have talked about her with Judith. Deidre would never have let things come to this. She had no patience for his self-pity. “Charlie, you’re full of shit,” she would tell him. Lovingly. Gently. With that little cracked smile of hers, that smile that he had loved more than anything he could remember. As he sat there in the Honda and stared at the lawn, the very lawn that she had been trying to revive when she stuck her wet hands into the exposed circuitry of the broken transformer, small warm tears clouded over his vision.

The small warm tears became warmer and less small. It wasn’t long before he was bawling loudly in the front seat of the car, undoubtedly a strange sight to anyone who may have been looking out the window of the navy blue chateau because somebody inside the house had, in fact, been looking out the stained-glass front window and, seeing a strange man crying loudly in a beat-up Honda in front of their house, called the Beverly Hills police.

Minutes later a tall blond motorcycle cop was shining a flashlight in his eyes.

“You want to step outside the vehicle, sir.”

When Charlie did not react immediately, the storm trooper moved closer, his hand on his weapon, and repeated the command.

Charlie stepped out of the vehicle. The cop, whose name, appropriately, was Heimler, asked him for identification.

Charlie produced his driver’s license, which still had the Alpine Drive address. Heimler examined it, looked at Charlie, looked at the house and the house number, and said, “Do you live here?”

“No.”

“How come your driver’s license has this address?”

“I used to live here.”

“What are you doing here now?”

“Reminiscing.”

Heimler curled his lip, unhappy with this answer.

“I lost the house to the bank,” Charlie explained. “I didn’t have enough in to refie again so I just let them take it. Anyway, I’m in Debtors Anonymous, so I’m working on the problem. I was on my way home from my therapist when I passed the street and thought I’d have a look at the house. It used to be Mediterranean, believe it or not.”

“Where do you live now?’

“Top of Mandeville Canyon. With my nephew Lionel. Actually, in his pool house. You see, I gave him his first job, four years ago. He wrote the script for Dizzy and Will. Won Best Picture. You happen to see it?”

The cop shook his head, handed Charlie back his driver’s license and said, “You need to get your address changed on your driver’s license.”

“Sure,” said Charlie. “I’ve got a lot of time on my hands.”

Sergeant Heimler stood in front of the house, arms folded, and watched as Charlie got in his car, did a U-turn, and headed back to Sunset. He waited five more minutes to make sure he didn’t return.
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Later that night, as Charlie sat watching CSI: El Paso in the pool house beside the Olympic-length lap pool behind Lionel’s sprawling Greek Revival home on the top of Mandeville Canyon, his nephew slid the glass door open and walked in. Charlie looked up and saw his sister Bea’s son wearing a cashmere sweater, designer jeans and socks. Lionel had a personal shopper, as well as a personal assistant, a workout coach, manager, agent, lawyer, accountant, stockbroker, decorator, pool man, gardener, housekeeper, dog walker and closet organizer. Charlie eyeballed his nephew’s above-the-line expenses for this platoon of people at a couple of hundred thou a year easy.

Lionel Traven, né Travitz, was pushing twenty-five and, in a large part due to his having written Charlie’s Oscar-winning movie four years ago, was an A-Plus List screenwriter. He was so hot that he had five different scripts stockpiled at the moment—all of them high-profile projects with major talent attached. The amount of money potentially represented by these jobs was enough to present challenging tax problems, causing him to purchase a share of a negative cash-flow medical building in Costa Mesa and a sizable position in some very volatile Indonesian rubber stock futures.

“Hey, Uncle Charlie. How’re you doing?”

“All right, Lionel.”

“Got a moment?”

Charlie hit the “mute” button on the TV just as Jason Priestley stuck the coyote excrement under the electron microscope. Lionel put his hands in his pockets, flexed his jaws uncomfortably, which signaled to Charlie that he was about to hear bad news.

“Uh…here’s the thing. Shari?”

Charlie nodded. This was the way that you had a conversation with Lionel. He would utter a series or short interrogative phrases, and you would nod until he continued.

“She’s been living with me?”

Shari had been hired to organize Lionel’s closets and had managed to parlay this into a live-in position. Lionel’s closets all looked like file cabinets. After alphabetizing his spice rack, she had color-coordinated his sweater drawer.

“Well, she’s thinking of branching out into general organization?”

Nod.

“You know, help people get organized? Arrange their offices? Their schedules? Their priorities?”

Nod.

“So she kind of would like to have an office to work out of? You know what I mean?”

Nod.

“And she thought that the pool house would be perfect?”

Nod.

“So…you know, we were kind of thinking what your plans were?”

“Plans?” he uttered, batting the ball back to Lionel’s side of the court.

“Uh-huh. Like…are you going to be like moving out soon?”

“Moving out?”

“Uh-huh…”

“Where?”

“Like to an apartment somewhere or a house?”

“Oh.”

A protracted moment of strained silence passed. Charlie considered pointing out to his nephew that, unlike Shari, he, Charlie, was family, that it was in a large part thanks to him, Charlie, that Lionel now owned part of a negative cash-flow medical building in Costa Mesa.

“Maybe you could like find a place in the Oakwood Apartments? They’re, like, convenient to the studios? For your meetings?”

Charlie hadn’t had a meeting at a studio in months. The only meetings he went to now were meetings at which people got up and spilled their guts. The Oakwood Apartments were furnished lodgings, basically Embassy Suites with Internet access and optional maid service. They were expensive, depressing, full of people getting divorced or out from the East Coast for a month or two. Charlie couldn’t make a week’s rent, let alone a month’s.

“When does Shari need the space by?”

“Like asap?”

“All right. I’ll look for a place.”

“Great? Oh yeah, and Rita’s off the painkiller for her gum surgery?”

“Good.”

“So she’s going to need her car back?”

“Right.”

“See you later?”

And his nephew gave him a cheerful wave and retreated to the main house. Charlie kept the “mute” button on and stared blankly at the screen. Dana Delany was taking off her lab coat, looking a little chunky in a pair of baggy woolen slacks. Charlie would have fired the wardrobe mistress for letting Dana Delany wear those slacks.

He leaned back on the couch and closed his eyes. Very slowly he exhaled, as if he were trying to conserve his breath. He hadn’t thought that things could get any worse. But they just had.

He was now not only broke and carless. He was homeless.









Two

Starbucks




Charlie’s first-month-free-1,000-anytime-minutes cell phone went off before nine o’clock the following morning. It was not his best hour, even before he was broke and homeless, and as he rolled over on the lumpy pullout couch, he wondered who could possibly be calling him on this phone. But Charlie was at the point in his life where he couldn’t afford not answering a phone. You never knew. It could be Michael J. Anthony.

The phone was on its ninth ring—a computer-generated rendition of “Für Elise”—before he tracked it down buried in the pocket of yesterday’s trousers.

“Hello.”

“Charlie?”

“Who’s this?”

“Kermit Fenster.”

“Who?”

“We’re in the same DA meeting. We spoke yesterday, remember?”

The wiry guy with the tinted glasses who had approached him during coffee and bagel time.

“How’d you get this number?”

“You got a free hour today?” Fenster asked, ignoring the question.

Then Charlie remembered that he put the number down on the sign-up sheet for the DA meeting. It was indicative of his desperation at the moment that Charlie had given the number in the event that some deadbeat studio executive needing a producer for a go movie would show up at DA for some sharing.

“I don’t know.”

“There’s a Starbucks on San Vicente and Barrington. How about noon?”

“I’ve got some things I need to do—”

“See you then.”

And Fenster hung up, having, Charlie realized, completely ignored everything he had said. Charlie looked at his watch, a nonpawnable digital Timex. 9:14 a.m. Generally, he didn’t get out of bed till after ten, which made the day shorter and therefore more manageable. Things were looking a little gray at 9:14 a.m. The sun hadn’t burned off the cloud cover yet.

Putting on a pair of jogging pants and a UCLA sweatshirt, he slid open the door and circumnavigated the pool, which was being acid washed by Mr. Kim, Lionel’s anal-compulsive Korean pool man. The pool was so clean it looked like undulating aqua Jell-O. Charlie waved nonchalantly at Mr. Kim, who did not return his salutation.

He entered the kitchen by the back door. At the sink washing up the breakfast dishes was Glinka, Lionel’s depressed Estonian cleaning lady. She did not return Charlie’s salutation either. He went to the cupboard and confronted the breathtaking order that Shari had imposed. Canned goods were organized alphabetically, with type of food being a category, and brand name and flavor being subcategories. So that to find Campbell’s celery soup, for example, you located the soup section first, then the Campbell’s and then found celery between beef barley and consommé. The Cheerios were located in the dry cereal section, between All-Bran and Frosted Flakes.

The refrigerator was organized by basic food groups. The proteins were on the first shelf, then the carbohydrates, the leafy vegetables, fruits (citrus and non-citrus), and so forth on the shelves in descending order. Charlie found the milk, displayed according to fat content, starting with regular, then going to 2 percent fat, 1 percent fat and fat-free.

As he sat under the sullen glare of Glinka, eating his cereal, he considered whether he should bother meeting Kermit Fenster at Starbucks. The guy probably wanted to pitch him some script his wife had written. There was, moreover, the practical problem of getting there. Shari’s sister wanted her Honda back. It was close to five miles just to get to Sunset and another two to Brentwood.

Charlie went to the cupboard, where he found jars of instant coffee, organized into two categories: caffeinated and noncaffeinated. Within the caffeinated subgroup there was American, Colombian, East Indian and French, in that order. He chose Colombian, spooned a healthy amount into a Miramax For Your Consideration mug and added water from the instant hot water tap.

Coffee cup in hand, he headed to the bathroom off the kitchen, also known as the yellow bathroom. Each of the six bathrooms in the house had a unique color scheme with the towels matching the exquisite tile work done by five Armenian brothers and their father and written off by Lionel’s accountant as a research expense on one of his scripts that featured an Armenian hitman.

Charlie was about to enter the yellow bathroom when Shari came down the hallway, carrying a stack of yellow towels and several rolls of yellow toilet paper.

“Would you mind using the rose bathroom? I’m restocking the yellow bathroom’s towels.”

She continued, in the way of explanation, “There are a couple of rose towels that need to be washed, and tomorrow is the day that the rose bathroom towels get washed, so this way we can start the yellow bathroom’s cycle off with a full set of towels, you see?”

He was about to suggest that he could use the rose towels in the yellow bathroom without disturbing the towel washing cycle, but he knew that she would knot her eyebrows in displeasure as she always did whenever he said anything the least bit contrary to her. She already didn’t like him. There was no point in antagonizing her further while he still had her sister’s car keys.

Charlie nodded and continued down the hall, past the small den to the larger den, off which was located the rose bathroom, thankful that she hadn’t said anything about her sister’s car. Maybe he could get another day or two out of it.

In the end, it was the availability of the Honda with its eighth of a tank of gas that made Charlie decide to meet Kermit Fenster at Starbucks. After his shower in the rose bathroom, Charlie hurriedly dried off with a rose towel, then hurried back to the pool house, threw on some clothes, and pulled the Honda out of the drive and down Mandeville. A hundred yards past the house, he put it into neutral, shut off the motor, and coasted the rest of the way to Sunset.
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Kermit Fenster was not at Starbucks at noon. Nor at 12:15. Charlie had invested $1.75 of his shrinking liquid capital in a tall latte grande. Around him people sat alone at the molded plastic tables, reading newspapers, cell phoning, Palm Piloting, staring blankly off into the neutral climate-controlled ether.

Los Angeles café society. In spite of the caffeine, the average pulse rate in the place was below 50. Besides the staccato desultory cell phone conversations, the only other sounds were the occasional whosh of the espresso machine and the white noise of the ventilation.

“Für Elise” gurgled from his pocket. He fished the phone out and heard Kermit Fenster’s voice on the other end.

“Charlie, it’s Kermit Fenster. I’m running a little late.”

“How late?”

“Don’t go away.”

And he disconnected. Charlie left the phone on the table and drained the latte grande. He ought to leave. Not that his time was at all that valuable. But he didn’t like being jerked around. And this guy who didn’t answer questions seemed by all appearances to be a major jerk-off artist.

He could still make a one-o’clock matinee of a movie. The tickets were only $7.50 for the first show. But was there anything he really wanted to see?

Since Charlie had drifted to the outer precincts of the movie business, he spent less and less time actually seeing movies. He found that he couldn’t sit through the vapid tent poles that Hollywood was producing these days. The industry had become an assembly line for sequential software, manufacturing roman-numeral movies or pretentious wetdreams from hot auteur directors that nobody actually went to see but which kept the talent happy so that they would do more tent poles.

Not that the films that Charlie Berns had produced were great works of art. With the exception of his Oscar-winning picture, a complete fluke that he had backed into thanks to a sequence of highly improbable circumstances, most of his movies were trash. But they were honest trash. You got what you paid for. You got action, blood and gore, tits and ass, whatever was advertised.

In the few interviews he had done following the Oscar, during that fleeting moment when he had some clout and recognition before the window of opportunity was nailed shut, Charlie was always honest to a fault. He said that he believed that movies were entertainment, not art, that success was largely an accident of time and place, and that all he wanted to do was to make a living. This matter-of-factness was one of the reasons that his agent at the time—an insect with a bad sinus infection named Brad Emprin—told him that his career was slowly but ineluctably heading south, from where, he implied, it had come from.

The last call that Brad Emprin returned, three days after Charlie had left word, was from his cell phone on his way home at 7:45 p.m. in the Sepulveda Pass, and consisted of a short homily, interrupted by cell phone static from the Santa Monica Mountains, about the law of diminishing returns with respect to heat. Heat, Brad Emprin had said, was the most ephemeral of qualities in the movie business. Here today, gone this afternoon. Strike while the iron is hot. Don’t rest on your laurels. Reinvent yourself every day anew…

At 12:50, Kermit Fenster walked in the door. He spotted Charlie in the corner, came over and sat down.

“What’re you having?” he asked, without a word of apology or explanation for the fact that he was nearly an hour late.

“Nothing. I already had a couple of latte grandes.”

“Two latte grandes,” Fenster called to the Aztec behind the counter, took off an expensive suede jacket and draped it over the back of his chair and smiled. His bleached teeth were so white that Charlie felt like he was looking right into a pair of high-beam headlights.

“Willy and Ben, that was the name of the picture, wasn’t it?”

“Actually, it was Dizzy and Will.”

“Hell of a picture. What did it do?”

“About two and a quarter worldwide.”

“No shit. I’d a thought it was over three.”

Fenster went to collect the coffees. Charlie watched him take a thick roll of bills out of his pocket to pay for the lattes. He sat back down, handed Charlie his latte, and put a bunch of sugar packets and napkins on the table. As Fenster stirred two sugars into his coffee, Charlie took a closer look at him. Under the aqueous neon lighting, the man looked older than Charlie had originally thought when he had met him at DA, over fifty at least, maybe even sixty. His face was tanned, the skin stretched by a recent face-lift, but you could see some age in the spiderwebs at the corners of his eyes and a couple of incipient liver spots on his forehead. He was thin, compactly built, with small nervous hands and a good head of lightly dyed hair. His clothes were expensive, more eastern than California, and he was sporting a large emerald ring on his right hand.

“So, tell me something, Charlie, you watch TV?”

“Not a whole lot,” Charlie lied. Given his disposable income, he logged a lot of hours in the pool house in front of Lionel’s twenty-seven-inch Sony.

“What do you watch?”

“I kind of surf around a lot.”

“You watch that reality stuff?”

“Like American Idol?”

“Uh-huh. Hottest thing on TV. People can’t get enough of that shit. And from what I hear, you can make it for next to nothing.”

“Apparently.”

“So, how would you like to get into the reality TV business?”

“Me?”

“Who am I having a coffee with?”

“Look, it’s very nice of you to think of me, but I don’t know the first thing about producing television.”

“What’s to know? You produced an Academy Award–winning movie, didn’t you? This ought to be a whole lot easier.”

Charlie eyed the exit. He could say that he had to put more money in the meter and make a run for it. But what else did he have to do at the moment? As the DA people liked to say, if you don’t change your direction, you’ll wind up where you’re going, which, according to his ex-therapist Judith Dinkman, was not a good place. “You have to open doors, Charlie, even if you don’t know what’s behind them, or else you’ll spend your whole life in the hallway.”

So Charlie asked, “What did you have in mind?”

Fenster looked around him, as if he were about to divulge a state secret.

“Uzbekistan,” he said, in a low, almost whispered voice.

“What?”

“Uzbekistan,” Fenster repeated. “Central Asia. Former Soviet Socialist Republic, population 24 million, area 447,400 square kilometers, GNP $23,490,000,000, or about $1,010 per capita. One of only two doubly landlocked countries in the world. The other one is Liechtenstein.”

“Didn’t know that.”

“You want another coffee?”

“No thanks.”

Fenster signaled for two more latte grandes, then leaned in toward Charlie and looked directly into his bloodshot eyes. “This is strictly need to know, what I’m going to tell you. It goes no further than this table. There could be some serious collateral damage if certain people and situations are compromised, you understand what I’m saying?”

Charlie nodded self-protectively. The guy was obviously off his rocker, and Charlie didn’t want to agitate him unnecessarily.

“I’m a CIA operative. Central Asian desk. Seventeen months in Tashkent. I’ve been all over the area—Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan—all the Stans, including Afghanistan. I helped kick the Taliban the fuck out of there.”

“Uh-huh.”

“Lots of interesting things going on over there these days. You got your shaky governments, you got your rebels, you got your Russian mafia, you got your Islamic fundamentalists, you got your drug cartels, you got your warlords. We got interests there because of the oil. The Russians think they still own it. Besides the oil, there’re gold reserves, there’s opium being transshipped from China. There are ecological disasters about to happen—the Aral Sea is drying up, losing 7.5 square kilometers a year from too much irrigation. So what do you think?”

“About what?”

“Central Asia, Uzbekistan in particular.”

“As a TV reality show?”

“Isn’t that what we’re talking about?”

“Well, I don’t know—”

“You don’t know? The place is perfect. It’s exotic, it’s dangerous, you take your life in your hands just drinking the water…”

“Do you have a concept?”

“What I was thinking was one of these reality programs about the day-to-day life of a warlord—you know, follow him around, film him with his family, getting tributes from neighboring villages, running guns, taking a cut out of the dope trade, consolidating his power. You call it Warlord. How can you not watch that?”

“Well, it’s certainly…intriguing…”

“Charlie, do me a favor. Don’t tell me something I already know.”

“Do you think an American audience would relate to this?”

“You kidding? It’s a fucking Western. It’s Dodge City. Everyone carries a gun. The sheriff’s scared shit to enforce the law. It’s completely unpredictable. Think of Genghis Khan, think of Attila the Hun…I have all the contacts. You want anything in the entire region, I know how to get it.”

“What about your job?”

“My job?”

“With the CIA.”

“I’m not at liberty to discuss that.”

Fenster went and got two more latte grandes and placed one in front of Charlie even though he hadn’t touched the first one. He took a big sip, wiped his mouth with a napkin and looked around him again.

“So you want in?”

“Look, I don’t know what I bring to the table.”

“You’re going to sell this.”

“I told you, I don’t know anything about television.”

“Come on. You’ve worked in this town for a long time. You know people who, if they can’t do it, know people who can. All you have to do is get us in the door at a network and sell it. I’ll do the rest. I’ll get us a warlord, local facilities, the muscle. Whatever you want. If you can buy or steal it in Uzbekistan, Kazakhstan, Turkmenistan, I can get it.”

“I think it could be a hard sell.”

“Charlie, what step are you on?”

“Step?”

“The twelve steps. Which one are you on?”

“I’m not really sure.”

“Take a look at number thirteen.”

“What’s that?”

“When somebody throws you the ball, run with it.”

He held Charlie’s look for a long moment.

“Let me think about it,” Charlie said finally, if only to break the spell.

“Don’t think about it too long, because this is a ground-floor opportunity. You’re not interested, I’ll get someone else. In this town you can throw a stone and hit a producer.”

Charlie looked at his watch pointedly and said, “Thanks very much, Kermit, but I really do have to go.”

“I’m giving you a seventy-two-hour window. I want to hear from you by this time Monday or else I’m going to Jerry Bruckheimer.”

Fenster reached into his wallet, removed a card and handed it to Charlie. It had CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE AGENCY written on it, CENTRAL ASIAN DESK, Fenster’s name and a phone number with a 703 area code.

“Thanks,” Charlie said, “I’ll be in touch.”

“Step thirteen, Charlie. Don’t drop the ball.”
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Though Charlie had nothing to do in town, he did not want to drive back up Mandeville for fear of having the Honda confiscated. Being carless was worse than being homeless in Los Angeles. You could always sleep in your car.

He mapped out a game plan for the remainder of the day before he could slink back to Lionel’s under the cover of night: Taco Bell for the 99-cent lunch, then the Brentwood Public Library for the afternoon of random reading, an hour or two in the Westside Pavilion window shopping, then two pizza slices at Piece O’ Pizza before going up the hill to the twenty-seven-inch Sony.

He started the Honda up and squinted at the gas gauge. There was a fraction of light before he hit absolute E. Charlie had become an expert on reading gas gauges. He knew from experience that there was Empty and then there was Empty. He estimated one and a half more trips up and down, maybe two if he coasted down the hill.

In the Brentwood Library he whiled away the afternoon reading a Harlequin romance novel. At the Westside Pavilion he got his sunglasses adjusted for nothing at Sunglass Hut and checked out the sales on sweat socks. He was sitting over a Diet Coke in the food court, watching the flora and fauna of a mall afternoon through lidded eyes when “Für Elise” sounded.

“Hello?”

“Uncle Charlie?”

“Yeah, Lionel.”

“The car?”

“Oh, right, listen, I thought I’d get it washed. You know, as a token of my appreciation to Shari’s sister Rita for lending it to me.”

“That’s nice of you? But she really needs it? She has a follow-up appointment at her periodontist’s? Tomorrow morning? In Encino?”

“Okay, I’ll bring it back tonight.”

“How’s the apartment hunting going?”

“I’m looking.”

He left the mall and drove off a gallon of gas before heading up Mandeville and retiring to the pool house. It was after ten o’clock when he surfed on to a rerun of The Sopranos. Tony was having problems collecting on a skimming racket from the building workers’ union, and then he comes home and his kid starts to dump on him and his wife’s concerned about their nest egg being buried in plastic bags in the backyard. He was eating a lot of junk food and not looking well and having a recurrence of his anxiety attacks.

It was fascinating to watch a guy with that much power struggling against such everyday problems. Even though this guy routinely chopped people up and buried them in the Jersey salt flats, you found yourself rooting for him.

When it was over Charlie shut the set off and took a guerrilla trip to the yellow bathroom. As he dried his face with one of the clean new yellow towels, prematurely starting the yellow towel cycle, he saw it all laid out in front of him. It was one of those flashes of insight that hit you unexpectedly like a wave of exhilaration. It had been so long since Charlie experienced anything remotely like exhilaration that he felt a little dizzy. He kept the idea wrapped up tight until he had gotten into bed on the lumpy pullout sofa.

And then for at least an hour before he finally drifted off to sleep, he went over and over the idea, expanding on it until he was convinced it was the best idea he had had in at least a year. If not five.









Three

ABCD




Hidden away in an industrial section of Manhattan Beach, about fifteen miles from the ABC Television Building in Burbank, was a rogue division of the network called, innocuously enough, ABCD—American Broadcasting Company Development. The existence of ABCD was so secret that much of the parent company hierarchy, not to mention the network itself, was unaware of it. Even the CEO had only a vague notion that this skunkworks existed beyond the small line item in the budget that he signed off on quarterly under the column titled “Development Expenses.”

In order to create a shield around the CEO and around the other high-level executives at both the network and the parent company, the details of just what was going on in Manhattan Beach were kept from them. It was a strategy that had worked successfully for the Reagan White House, when the president was kept out of the loop about Iran-Contra in order to maintain his deniability.

The creation of ABCD was a response to the network’s shrinking audience share and unappetizing demographics, which were exerting relentless downward pressure on the parent company’s stock price and increasing its vulnerability to being gobbled up by some cash-rich bottom feeder. The CEO had recently been ignominiously booted from the chairman of the board’s job by a group of disgruntled stockholders, and his tenure on the CEO job was thought to be tenuous.

The division was an attempt to stop the bleeding by creating a superweapon to deal with the problems quickly and overwhelmingly—in the way that the atomic bomb stopped the bleeding in 1945. It was essentially a top-secret research and development program. The people who worked there were required to sign agreements not to reveal the nature of the work done in this division. Like the nuclear scientists working on the Manhattan Project in Los Alamos during World War Two, they were engaged in highly sensitive work developing the type of television projects that were so radical that public knowledge of them could lead to embarrassment of the parent company—the very same people who every night, 365 nights out of the year, sponsored a group of actors dressed as friendly animals parading down a plastic Main Street in Anaheim for tourists from the world over.

Along with ABCD, there was the traditional development division at ABC, on Riverside Drive in Burbank, which bought scripts and made pilots for the network—sitcoms and cop shows and, more and more of late, the kind of audience-pleasing reality shows that were popular. This division, headed by a thirty-two-year-old hot shot named Kara Kotch, went about its work unaware that just a few miles south of LAX was a shadow division also developing product for the same network. They were actually a front for ABCD, though a front that had no idea what was going on in back and would have been shocked to know that a nice slice of the network’s development resources was being devoted to this rogue operation in Manhattan Beach.

The cover for the division was alternative media. As far as anyone who worked at ABC knew, the people in Manhattan Beach were engaged in some think tank gaming to expand the network’s presence into Internet programming, virtual video, satellite transmission—the whole futuristic, quasi-sci-fi part of the business. They had no idea that ABCD was engaged in experimental programming designed to plug the holes in the network’s regular lineup and could, conceivably, replace them.

To camouflage its existence further, ABCD did not advertise the fact that it was not actually located in Burbank. The direct-dial phone numbers of all the offices had 818 area codes as well as the 363 prefixes that preceded all of the network numbers. The leading executives had offices in the Burbank headquarters as well as in the Manhattan Beach facility. These superfluous offices on Riverside Drive were occupied only when a meeting with someone outside the division was unavoidable; they were manned by secure ABCD personnel who were trained to make sure that the executive in question was always away from his desk or at an outside meeting if someone from the network happened to wander up to the fifth floor looking for one of them.

ABCD’s specialty was the ERS, or extreme reality show, a prime-time version of extreme sports, in which plausibility and taste were stretched to accommodate the kind of lower-than-lowest-common-denominator television that viewers would be unable to resist. Once these shows were developed and produced, they were to be test-aired on closed-circuit cable channels to see how people reacted to them—the TV version of doing medical experiments on mice to see how they would be tolerated by humans. If in the judgment of the ABCD research people, they were hitting their demographic targets, they would be slipped into the network’s prime-time schedule to jump-start the ratings.

The division’s work was still largely in the start-up stage. There was only one program that was remotely ready to be produced, let alone be aired. It was a program called Kidnapped, in which an unsuspecting person was filmed being abducted and being kept sequestered at a secret location for twenty-four hours, while the victim’s family would be contacted for ransom demands. With the audience registering their opinions online about whether or not the person was going to be ransomed, the subject would learn just how his friends and family felt about him before being told it was all in good fun, set free for a tearful reunion with his loved ones and given a series of prizes for his or her sportsmanship.

The problem to be resolved with Kidnapped was how to avoid the victim’s pressing charges against the producers for abduction. The ABCD lawyers had proposed getting the victim to sign a hold-harmless agreement before getting the prizes, but they were concerned about the ex post facto nature of the agreement and the possibility that grand juries would indict in spite of the agreement. So the program lay in limbo while the lawyers went back and forth on it.

The ABCD development exec behind Kidnapped was a forty-four-year-old refugee from the movie business named Norman Hudris, who had been, coincidentally, at the studio that had produced Charlie Berns’s Academy Award–winning movie, Dizzy and Will, and had watched his own career, like Charlie’s, slip slowly but steadily south as time passed, drifting downward to a job in Standards and Practices at NBC, the Antarctica of the TV business.

Then Norman Hudris had been approached one day by an old studio colleague of his, Howard Draper. Howard Draper was a man blessed with patrician looks, impeccable taste and little else. He looked good in Brooks Brothers, knew his way around a wine list and didn’t double fault at tennis.

Howard Draper’s position at ABCD was only slightly less protectively distanced from the action than the CEO’s. He took pains to stay, if not completely out of the loop, then at least in the outer quadrant. The treatment for Kidnapped never crossed his desk, and the memos from the lawyers were e-mailed to him and then immediately deleted after he read them. One young attorney had to be let go because he had inadvertently put Howard Draper’s name on the c.c. list for a memo. They confiscated his nonduplicable key, erased his hard disk and scraped his ABCD parking sticker off the wind-shield with a solvent that left no traces.

Norman Hudris had regular meetings with Howard Draper in which he had to be careful not to tell his boss anything compromising while, at the same time, telling him enough so that Howard Draper could get through his meetings with the money people around the corner. This systematic passing up of selective disinformation benefited everyone involved except the people at the bottom of the pyramid and the company’s stockholders, whose stock was so depressed anyway it didn’t make a whole lot of difference. And should the division come up with the big hit, everyone would come out smelling sweet.

The network’s health plan was one of the principal reasons that Norman Hudris took the job at ABCD. After the studio he worked for had been sold to the Japanese, who immediately belt-tightened and consolidated his job, he had spent nearly eighteen months out of work, protected only by the leaky umbrella of a cut-rate HMO which required him to use Eastern European doctors with questionable medical degrees.

When you had the type of health problems that Norman Hudris had, you needed top-notch treatment. He suffered from a number of chronic conditions—cardiac arrhythmia, prostatitis, thyroid imbalance, pancreatic insufficiency, urticaria, bleeding gums, to name just a few. Sometimes he wished that he had one really serious problem, like cancer, instead of all these nickel-and-dime problems that were collectively debilitating him but not killing him.

Howard Draper, of course, enjoyed glowing health. So that when they had their monthly lunch at, for security reasons, a remote Greek restaurant in Glendale, where nobody from the business ate, Norman Hudris avoided discussing his health problems.

They were always a very delicate proposition, these lunches at the Hercules Taverna on Brand Avenue. The challenge was to fill his boss in on the projects in development in such a general way that Howard Draper would have only a vague idea of what was going on in his own division but not enough detail to compromise him should a firestorm break out. It was a fire-break in the line of command, with each person involved kept only on the perimeter of the loop by the person directly beneath him. At ABCD, the only thing more dangerous than being out of the loop was being in the loop.

“We’re…moving ahead on a number of fronts,” Norman Hudris said as he took a small bite of his htapothi vrasto.

“Good,” responded Howard Draper, chasing his blanched olives with a large sip of acrid Retsina.

“There are some promising projects in the works.”

“Glad to hear it. Any time frame?”

“Nothing firm. We wouldn’t want to rush any of this too quickly into the pipeline.”

“Of course. You think maybe by the end of the second quarter?”

“Third at the latest. There’s this one particular pilot that I think could go through the roof…” Norman Hudris began.

“Good, good,” Howard Draper hurriedly interrupted lest his underling get too specific.

“There are some attendant legal problems. You’ve read the memos?”

“No,” Howard Draper said emphatically. “I haven’t read any memos, but I’m sure our lawyers are on top of things.”

“It’s a little too early to talk about it, though. It’s still gestating.”

“Good. You can’t rush creativity. On the other hand…I’m getting a little pressure from the people I report to. The network’s first quarter demos are the lowest they’ve been in fifteen quarters.”

“I understand. We’ll push things, see if we can get a pilot on film by the end of this quarter.”

They ate in silence for a moment, then Howard Draper laid his fork down carefully, neatly on his napkin, and said, “Norman, we need to get something out of the box very soon. Or else…” he lowered his voice even though there were only three other people in the restaurant and they were speaking Greek, “there may be no box.”

“Is it that bad?”

“We’re getting beaten by UPN in Adults 18 to 49.”

“Jesus, really? Adults 18 to 49?”

“Uh-huh.”

“By UPN?”

“Uh-huh.”

“That’s a demo you don’t want to come in sixth in.”

“You certainly don’t.”

Ten minutes later, having paid the bill in cash, they left in separate cars.
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There were three names on Norman Hudris’s call sheet when he returned from his lunch with Howard Draper in Glendale. His colorectal surgeon was returning his call to schedule his semiannual colonoscopy; his dermatologist was returning his call with, he hoped, the results of the biopsy taken on a suspicious-looking mole on his earlobe; and someone named Charlie Berns.

Norman Hudris came up empty on Charlie Berns. He asked his assistant, Tom Soaring Hawk, a Native American hired as a result of the network’s recent diversity campaign, if Charlie Berns had mentioned what he was calling about.

“No, he didn’t, Norman,” Tom Soaring Hawk said in that calm, uninflected voice that Norman was really starting to dislike. Norman was considering having a chat with ABCD’s head of Human Resources to see if he could get Tom Soaring Hawk transferred out of the division as a security risk.

“If you don’t know who they are, you’re supposed to ask what this is regarding.”

“I know who he is.”

“You do?”

“Yes. I Googled him.”

“Who is he?”

“He’s a producer.”

“A producer of what?”

“He won an Academy Award for Dizzy and Will.”

It all came flooding back to Norman Hudris: the flake who had come to him when he was still in the movie business with a script about Benjamin Disraeli that he somehow had managed to attach Bobby Mason to, that they started off making in Yugoslavia until Bobby Mason got kidnapped by Macedonian separatists and then the guy had gone underground and made the original script with blocked currency and with Jeremy Ikon and Jacqueline Fortier, and actually managed, against all odds, to win the Best Picture Oscar.

After that, Charlie Berns had disappeared off the radar screen. He hadn’t made a picture since then. His name was never in the trades. He was not connected with any projects that were being talked about.

Norman Hudris saw no good reason to return Charlie Berns’s phone call. He was probably trying to pitch him some TV movie he couldn’t sell as a feature. Or hit him up for a job. Or, even worse, suggest lunch so that they could reminisce about the halcyon days when they were both in the picture business.

So Norman Hudris did not return Charlie Berns’s phone call. Instead he called his dermatologist and was told that there was no conclusive evidence from the biopsy that the mole on his earlobe was malignant. He was not overly comforted by the language. The word conclusive was not reassuring. So he scheduled an appointment to repeat the biopsy. Then he called Dr. Hjort, his colorectal surgeon, and made an appointment for his colonoscopy.
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Charlie Berns had gotten Norman Hudris’s phone number by first calling NBC, and then, upon being told that the former Standards and Practices executive no longer worked there, he simply cold-called the other networks and had the ABC switchboard put him through.

Charlie had been in the business long enough to know when he was getting blown off, and when Norman Hudris did not return his phone call by noon the following day, Charlie called the ABC switchboard again.

“Norman Hudris’s office,” Tom Soaring Hawk announced.

“It’s Charlie Berns.”

“Mr. Hudris is in meetings all day and—”

“No, he isn’t.”

“May I ask what this is regarding?”

“Just put him on the phone.”

“I’ll see if he’s available,” the assistant said, and he punched the hold button, got up and knocked on his boss’s door.

After a moment Norman Hudris called, “What?”

Tom Soaring Hawk opened the door and stood in the doorway. His boss was playing Minesweeper on his computer, staring intently at the screen, no doubt trying to avoid getting blown up by a U-boat.

“Charlie Berns called back.”

“Did you tell him I was in a meeting?”

“Yes, but he didn’t believe me.”

“Oh, for shits sake…”

“He’s on line three.”

Norman knew this because there was only one line blinking. His assistant had the annoying habit of providing superfluous information. “Close the door,” he said irritably, then waited fifteen seconds before picking up.

“Hello.”

“Norman, it’s Charlie Berns.”

“Hey, how’re you doing? It’s been a while. What are you up to?”

“I want to come in and pitch you an idea for a series.”

“You ought to go see Kara.”

“I don’t know Kara. I know you.”

“Well, Charlie, I’m flattered you would think of me, but I’m sort of in the alternative media division here.”

“That’s okay with me. This is kind of an alternative idea.”

“You want to put something down on paper, e-mail me.”

“No. I want to pitch this to you personally. You got any time Monday?”

“We’ve got staff meetings pretty much all day…”

“I’m sure you can slip me in. Late afternoon? About four? Staff meeting should be over by then.”

Norman Hudris looked at his calendar. The only thing he had scheduled for the entire day was a morning trip to the dermatologist to take another skin sample from this earlobe.

“Four’s okay.”

“Leave two passes.”
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“Division 51,” the voice said when Charlie dialed the 703 area code number that Kermit Fenster had given him.

“Fenster?” Charlie spoke softly since he was making the call from Lionel’s kitchen, his free 1,000-minute cell phone being limited to local calls.

“Who’s this?”

“Charlie Berns.”

“Berns. Good to hear from you.”

“Where are you?”

“What do you mean where am I?”

“The area code of the number you gave me is Virginia.”

“That’s where the agency is, Berns. Langley, Virginia.”

“Oh, I thought you lived here.”

“You think over my proposition?”

“As a matter of fact, yes. And I think it may have some virtue.”

“Tell me something I don’t know.”

“Listen, I got in touch with an old friend of mine at ABC and set up a meeting for Monday. Four p.m.”

“I’ll be there.”

“You going to fly in from Virginia?”

“That’s why airplanes were invented.”

“Here’s the idea—”

“I don’t need to know the details. That’s your department.”

“You don’t want to know what I’m pitching?”

“Charlie, an efficient machine has no unnecessary parts. If everyone knows only what they’re supposed to know, things run a lot more smoothly.”

“Okay, but it’s all going to depend on finding a warlord.”

“You want a warlord in Central Asia? I can get you a dozen. Who’s the meeting with?”

“ABC. A guy I used to know, Norman Hudris, is in development there.”

“This guy says yes, then what happens?”

“Well, ordinarily, you get development money to bring in a writer to write a pilot script, but this is a reality show, so there is no script. So what we want is money to go over there, scout locations and find our warlord. What do you think it’s going to cost to spend a couple of weeks in Uzbekistan?”

“Fifty grand.”

“For travel expenses?”

“Fifty thou plus travel expenses.”

“What’s the fifty for?”

“You don’t just go into a country in Central Asia and start talking to warlords. There are assets that need funding.”

“They’re not going to pay fifty thousand dollars plus travel just to find a warlord.”

“Charlie, there are two types of people in this world: there are people who get things done, and there are people who tell you why they can’t get things done. You’re disappointing me.”

“Assuming they want to write a check, who do they write it to?”

“Cash.”

“ABC is not going to write a check for fifty thousand dollars to cash.”

“They like the idea enough they will. Where’s the meeting?”

“ABC in Burbank. Norman Hudris’s office. I’ll have them leave a drive-on pass in your name at Security.”

“Have them leave the pass for Dwight Halloran.”

“Who’s he?’

“You don’t need to know.”
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